
Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

June 9, 2025, 6:30 p.m. 

The Planning Board meeting was held at the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building located at 106 E. 
Washington Street, Mebane, NC 27302 and livestreamed via YouTube. The video can be accessed 
through the following link: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_fr-KPYElF8. Due to a technical issue, 
approximately 35 minutes of the first part of the meeting was not captured on YouTube. The audio file is 
available upon request. 

Members Present:  Members Absent: 
Judy Taylor, Chair Colin Cannell 
Kurt Pearson, Vice Chair Keith Hoover 
William Chapman David Scott 
Gale Pettiford Edward Tulauskas 
Susan Semonite 

City Staff Present: 
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 
Briana Perkins, City Planner 
Mitchell Pinsky, City Planner 
Kirk Montgomery, IT Director 

1. Call to Order
At 6:30 p.m. Chair Taylor called the meeting to order.

2. Approval of May 12, 2025, Meeting Minutes
Susan Semonite made a motion to approve the meeting minutes. William Chapman seconded the
motion, which passed unanimously.

3. City Council Actions Update
Ashley Ownbey informed the Board that the Mebane City Council reappointed Judy Taylor and
Edward Tulauskas to the Planning Board. She said that Kurt Pearson did not reapply for consideration
and a new Planning Board member was appointed by City Council. The new member’s term begins
in July.

4. Request to rezone the property totaling +/- 1.1 acres located on Miracle Drive (GPIN: 9815329060),
from R-20, Residential District, to R-12, Residential District, by RMA Build, LLC.
Robert Amico of RMA Build, LLC is requesting approval to rezone one parcel, totaling +/- 1.1 acres
and located on Miracle Drive (GPIN: 9815329060), from R-20 to R-12. The property is located in the
Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdiction in Alamance County.

The staff report is provided in the meeting agenda packet available here.

Ashley Ownbey provided a more detailed overview and PowerPoint presentation of the request.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_fr-KPYElF8
https://cityofmebanenc.gov/meetings/planning-board-meeting-june-9-2025/#/tab-agenda


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

June 9, 2025, 6:30 p.m. 

Robert Amico, property owner and applicant, said he planned to build three single-family homes 
designed as three-bedroom, two-bath, and two-car garage homes with about 2,400 square feet. The 
homes would be architecturally aligned with the house on the north side of Miracle Drive. He 
provided that the development would include extending Miracle Drive approximately 550 feet to 
Smith Road. As required by the City, the extension is planned to be 20 feet wide, with an 8-inch 
depth. He reported approval from Duke Energy to build the road through their easement and 
progress on maintenance agreement for the new extension. 

Susan Semonite asked if the road was just going to be a one-way road. Robert Amico replied that it 
was going to be a single lane from where his property starts out to Smith Road. 

Kurt Pearson made a motion to approve the request as follows: 

Motion to approve the R-12 zoning as presented. 

Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 
2017 Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. Specifically, the request: 

• Is for a property within the City’s G-1 Mixed-Use Growth Area and in an area with
existing residential uses (Mebane CLP, p. 70).

Susan Semonite seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

Chair Taylor noted that the request will go to the City Council on July 7, 2025. 

5. Request to rezone the property totaling +/- 14.74 acres located at South NC 119 Highway and

Summer Walk Drive (GPIN: 9803578931), from R-20, Residential District, to R-8 (CD), Residential
Conditional Zoning District, to allow for a 140-unit multifamily development by Brown Investment
Properties, Inc.
Brown Investment Properties, Inc. is requesting approval to rezone a +/- 14.74 acres property
located on South NC 119 Highway (GPIN 9803578931) from R-20, Residential District, to R-8 (CD),
Residential Conditional District, to allow for a 140-unit multifamily development.

The staff report is provided in the meeting agenda packet available here.

Mitchell Pinsky provided a more detailed overview and PowerPoint presentation of the request.

Tom Boney Jr., Alamance News, asked for the amount of the payment in lieu of public recreation
area. Ashley Ownbey replied that the amount was just over $64,000.

Nathan Duggins, attorney with Tuggle Duggins representing Brown Investment Properties, Inc,
introduced his team starting with Chester Brown III from Brown Investment Properties LLC, Kaitlyn
Jackson and Mike Fox from Tuggle Duggins, John Davenport and Dionne Brown from Davenport
Engineering. Nathan Duggins started his presentation with an explanation about why they had
previously requested a continuance. He said that traffic was a major concern brought up in the

https://cityofmebanenc.gov/meetings/planning-board-meeting-june-9-2025/#/tab-agenda


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

June 9, 2025, 6:30 p.m. 

neighborhood meeting, and they had been working to acquire an easement for another access onto 
Persimmon Place. He said Brown Investment Properties were granted the easement and updated the 
plans to reflect the new access. He continued his presentation with history on Brown Investment 
Properties, which has previously done work in Mebane off of Arrowhead Boulevard. He explained 
that unlike the previous apartment development that was sold after development, the new 
development would stay under the management of Brown Investment Properties. He showed 
renderings of the proposed apartments that were two-story buildings with a garage for each unit. 
This product has been constructed in Leland and Greensboro. He reported on two neighborhood 
meetings, one on April 29th over Zoom which had ten attendees, and the second on June 5th which 
had eight attendees. He said that the major concerns from the neighborhood meeting included 
traffic, dog park policies, and buffers. He explained that the North Carolina Department of 
Transportation (NCDOT) had required the 175-foot stem into the development for the traffic circle to 
reduce traffic and mentioned the second access to Persimmon Place.  

Dionne Brown, traffic engineer with Davenport Engineering, presented the findings of the traffic 
impact analysis (TIA). She said that Davenport had completed traffic studies for the original request 
for a school on the site and for the Summerhaven development. She reported that the traffic circle 
on Summer Walk Drive was tested with NCDOT for all current and future development. She also said 
that the counts provided in the report included school traffic to account for the worst-case scenarios 
in heavy traffic. She commented that the NCDOT had reviewed the TIA and had approved it on 
December 9, 2024.  

Chair Taylor asked about the improvements required for the neighborhood to the south of the 
proposed site. Dionne Brown replied that the development to the south is required to build 
southbound and northbound 100-foot turn lanes with tapers at the entrance on S NC 119. 

Chair Taylor asked how many cars could stack in the 100-foot turn lane. Dionne Brown replied that 
five cars would fit.  

Chair Taylor asked if the signal at Persimmon Place was also going to have a left turn lane. Dionne 
Brown replied yes, the proposed signal would include a left southbound turn lane and right 
northbound turn lane. Nathan Duggins provided that the roadway improvements would be bonded 
and would have to be completed before the development could get their final Certificate of 
Occupancy (CO).  

Chair Taylor asked how significant the landscape buffer was against the houses in Summerhaven 
behind the clubhouse and pool area. She asked if there was going to be a fence with the buffer or 
just plantings. Nathan Duggins replied that the buffer was a 40-foot evergreen buffer. 

Susan Semonite asked why there were 12 garages for 10 units. Nathan Duggins replied that two of 
the offered apartments would have two-car garages and the other units would have a one-car 
garage. 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

June 9, 2025, 6:30 p.m. 

William Chapman asked for further review of the buffering around the dog park. Nathan Duggins 
replied the required 40-foot evergreen buffer would be on their property and then open space 
behind the buffer that would not be developed and is maintained by the Summerhaven 
Homeowners Association (HOA). 

Chair Taylor asked how they would make the stormwater pond meet the private recreation 
requirements. Nathan Duggins replied that there would be a walking trail, benches, and a fountain in 
the pond. 

Susan Semonite asked if it was now a requirement to have fencing around stormwater ponds since 
her development did not have one. Ashley Ownbey replied that fencing is required if ponds hold a 
certain depth of water due to safety concerns. 

Gale Pettiford asked where the mail kiosk for the site was located. Ashley Ownbey replied that the 
plans had a note of the kiosk being at the clubhouse. 

Chair Taylor opened the floor for public comment. 

Valessa Markarian, 2403 Ivy Knoll Drive, was concerned with the economic impact on neighbors, 
overcapacity of schools, and traffic on Summer Walk Drive that was currently the only access. 

Glenn Levine, 2034 Summer Walk Drive, expressed concern with the loss of a charming Mebane with 
excess growth. He also commented on noise pollution from the dog park that was located behind his 
house. 

Melissa Sartin, 2013 Summer Walk Drive, shared concerns about the burden on local services such 
as groceries, pharmacies, utilities, and more with adding 140 units of people to the area. 

Matthew Alston, 2008 Summer Walk Drive, was concerned with increased noise, traffic, and safety 
of children since the current school pick-up location was at the traffic circle. 

Linda Smith, 2041 Summer Walk Drive, expressed concern with the possibility of increased crime in 
the area. 

Daniela Alston, 2008 Summer Walk Drive, shared concerns about noise pollution from the dog park 
and traffic. She mentioned that there were already about 440 multi-family proposed for the 
neighboring development that would use the other access road Persimmon Place. 

Janet Ecklebarger, 2870 Nereus Drive, asked what the payment of lieu of $64,00 to the City was used 
for. Chair Taylor replied that the payment in lieu was a permitted request in the Unified Development 
Ordinance to allow the developer to pay a fee in lieu of the required public recreation space that was 
not being provided. Janet Ecklebarger asked the Board to consider keeping the current zoning to 
keep consistency with the surrounding properties instead of the requested higher density zoning. 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

June 9, 2025, 6:30 p.m. 

Gilbert Walker, 2042 Summer Walk Drive, was concerned with noise pollution from the dog park, 
traffic, and strain on public utilities. 

Ben Saconn, 2203 Rosebank Way, expressed concerns with the negative impacts of the increase in 
population in that area having three schools along Hwy 119. He said he had a petition with 400 
signatures in opposition of the development and was concerned with the traffic and the safety of 
children. 

Jacob Smith, 608 S. Fourth Street, asked the Board to consider concerns of neighbors and growth 
carefully. 

Tom Boney Jr. asked if the R-20 zoning was originally okay for the previously proposed school. Ashley 
Ownbey replied that the school was permitted with a special use permit in the R-20 zoning district.  

Tom Boney Jr. asked if he understood correctly that Persimmon Place would have a stop light that 
would go across to Kimrey Road with NC Highway 119 left and right. Ashley Ownbey replied that was 
correct. 

Tom Boney Jr. asked how wide the streets were in the development. Ashley Ownbey replied that the 
development had no streets and was a parking lot with a minimum aisle width of 26 feet.  

Nathan Duggins addressed some of the comments made by first saying that Mebane could use a 
different housing type. He said that the Hawfields Landing development that neighbors the site does 
not have multi-family. This development includes a mix of townhomes and single family residential. 
He commented that the proposed product was a two-story, low-impact option for entry level 
residents in Mebane. He shared that his team had spoken to the school system and reported that 
Garret Elementary School was at 70% capacity, Hawfields Middle School was at 83%, and Southeast 
High School was at 85%. He said that traffic was always a concern, but according to the traffic 
engineers and the NCDOT, the traffic would work with the new development. He said the buffer 
provided was very stringent per the UDO requirements and that staff would hold them accountable 
to make sure it was completed correctly. He mentioned that in addition to the 40-foot buffer on the 
east side of the site, there was about 250 feet beyond the 40-foot buffer from the dog park. He 
closed by sharing that with the Hawfields Landing development, an additional connection to Farrell 
Road would soon exist. 

Susan Semonite asked why a dog park and not a playground was provided. She also asked if the dog 
park would have lighting or operate dawn-to-dusk. Nathan Duggins replied that the dog park would 
operate dawn-to-dusk and that a dog park was proposed was due to demand for dog parks. He did 
not feel cost was a factor. 

Susan Semonite asked if there was an option to have a no left turn onto NC Highway 119 during 
certain times of the day due to traffic flow. Nathan Duggins replied that would be a question for the 
NCDOT. Susan Semonite commented that it seems that people would go through the new 
development to access the traffic light to turn left instead of waiting several minutes. Ashley Ownbey 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

June 9, 2025, 6:30 p.m. 

said that there would be a public street connection from Summerhaven to Hawfields Landing to 
access the traffic signal without requiring travel through the proposed development.  

Susan Semonite asked if the construction of the proposed development was contingent to the traffic 
signal. Nathan Duggins replied that no certificates of occupancy for the development would be 
issued to his client without the completion of required transportation improvements. 

Chair Taylor asked if there was any discussion about moving the dog park up to the front of the 
development. Nathan Duggins reported no previous discussions of relocating the dog park. He 
indicated that his client was open to considering the idea.  

Chair Taylor asked if there was designated guest parking since the site did not have streets. Nathan 
Duggins replied that an overabundance of parking was provided with about 10-15% more parking 
than what was required by the UDO. 

Chair Taylor asked if there was parking in front of the units in addition to the garages. Nathan 
Duggins said there was parking in front of the garages with additional parking added throughout the 
site. 

Susan Semonite asked if there would be a curb and sidewalks. 

Chester Brown III, Brown Investments, Inc., replied to the parking question by saying the UDO 
required 230 spaces and they were providing 362. Chair Taylor asked if that number included the 
garages. Chester Brown replied yes. 

Chair Taylor asked if there would be any speed control measures in the parking lot. John Davenport, 
owner of Davenport Engineering, replied that the site was not seen as a major cut through to the 
new traffic signal. 

Susan Semonite asked to go back to her question about the neighborhood not having curbs and 
sidewalks since it was a parking lot. Ashley Ownbey replied that curb and gutter is provided and 
required by the UDO.  

Gale Pettiford asked if there was any feedback outside the Technical Review Committee from the Fire 
Department for emergency access. Ashley Ownbey replied that the Fire Chief and Fire Marshall both 
participate in the technical review process and had reviewed the plans for every submittal. She said 
that the buildings were sprinkled and there were no concerns about access. 

Kurt Pearson commented that there were more cons than pros regarding the development. He said 
the development was not compatible with the surrounding area and was high impact.  



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

June 9, 2025, 6:30 p.m. 

Susan Semonite made a motion to deny the request as follows: 

Motion to deny the R-8 (CD) rezoning as presented due to a lack of 
• Harmony with the surrounding zoning or land use

OR
• Consistency with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land

Development Plan Mebane By Design.

Kurt Pearson seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

Chair Taylor noted that the request will go to the City Council on July 7, 2025. 

6. Request to rezone six properties totaling +/- 37.68 acres located along Mebane Oaks Road and Old
Hillsborough Road. (GPINs: 9824112921, 9824123324, 9824120532, 9824124332, 9824121970, and
9824039072), from R-20 and B-2 to R-8 (CD) and B-2 (CD) for a development consisting of seven
commercial parcels and 128 townhomes by Deep River Partners.
Deep River Partners is requesting approval to rezone six properties totaling +/- 37.68 acres located
along Mebane Oaks Road and Old Hillsborough Road. (GPINs: 9824112921, 9824124332,
9824123324, 9824120532, 9824121970, and 9824039072), from R-20, R-8 (CD), and B-2 (CD) to R-8
(CD) and B-2 (CD) for a development consisting of seven commercial parcels and 128 townhomes.

The staff report is provided in the meeting agenda packet available here. 

Briana Perkins provided a more detailed overview and PowerPoint presentation of the request. 

Tom Boney Jr. asked for an explanation of the difference between the original development and the 
new proposed development. He asked about the change in acreage. Chair Taylor replied that two 
additional parcels were purchased and the proposal was for a larger development. Ashley Ownbey 
provided that the original proposal was for five commercial lots with 90 townhomes and the 
proposed development included seven commercial lots with 128 townhomes. She said that the 
change in acreage would be reviewed in the applicant’s presentation. 

Mike Fox, attorney at Tuggle Duggins representing Deep River Partners, presented that there were 
10.52 acres added to the original development, increasing the total from 27.16 acres to 37.68 acres. 
He said 38 townhomes, and two commercial lots were added with the newly acquired acreage. He 
also provided the changes in transportation improvements with new access to the traffic signal at 
the Evolve development and right-in-only access at the other driveway on Mebane Oaks Road. He 
said that the new acreage would extend the Wilson Road connection and pedestrian access along 
Mebane Oaks Road. He reported that a neighborhood meeting was held with only one neighbor 
attending who had general questions.  

https://cityofmebanenc.gov/meetings/planning-board-meeting-june-9-2025/#/tab-agenda


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

June 9, 2025, 6:30 p.m. 

Chair Taylor opened the floor for public comment. No public comment was provided. 

William Chapman made a motion to approve the request as follows: 

Motion to approve the R-8 (CD) and B-2 (CD) zoning as presented.  
Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. Specifically, the request: 

• Is for properties within the City’s G-4, Secondary Growth Area and G-2, Jones Drive and South
Mebane Oaks Road Residential Growth Area and proposes a mix of residential and light
commercial uses (Mebane CLP, p. 78).

• Encourage a variety of uses in growth strategy areas and supports compact and walkable
environments, consistent with Growth Management Goal 1.1 (Mebane CLP, p. 17 & 82)

• Allows for more commercial development to be pedestrian-friendly supporting walking
between different land uses, consistent with Growth Management Goal 1.6 (Mebane CLP, p.
17 & 84)

• Improves safety and pedestrian access across major streets such as Mebane Oaks Road,
consistent with Public Facilities and Infrastructure Goal 2.1 (Mebane CLP, p. 17 & 84)

Susan Semonite seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

Chair Taylor noted that the request will go to the City Council on July 7, 2025. 

7. Announcements
Ashley Ownbey reminded the Borad that the third public forum for Mebane 2045 is scheduled for
May 13, 2025, at the Mebane Arts & Community Center from 6:00 – 8:00 p.m. She also said that a
survey will be published after the forum.

William Chapman informed the Board that Thomas Vinson, who had served on the Planning Board
for 14 years, passed away last week at the age of 91.

Kurt Pearson thanked the Board for their service and remarked on how he has enjoyed working
alongside them for the past few years. He said that Mebane could do better in slowing down growth
and for the Board to consider more on what they could do to control the growth. He said that he was
considering other avenues to serve and look after the citizens of Mebane as the City grows. Gale
Pettiford thanked Kurt saying he always had the eye for the quality of life

8. Adjournment

Chair Taylor adjourned the meeting at approximately 8:15 p.m.




